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Name: CHILHAM CASTLE
County: Kent

District: Ashford (District Authority)
Parish: Chilham

label.localisation:  Latitude: 51.237011
Longitude: 0.95276671
National Grid Reference: TR0622052790
Map: Download afull scale map (PDF)

label.localisation:  [51.2376210024449,0.947577799118875], [51.2376209321063,0.947577877723791],
[51.2376210288408,0.947577858119522], [51.2376210024449,0.947577799118875]

label.overview:  Heritage Category: Park and Garden
Grade: I1*
List Entry Number: 1000261
Date first listed: 01-May-1986

Details

Formal and ornamental gardens of C17 origin, altered in the C18 and restored and developed in the C19 and C20, which are
set in apark of medieval origin with surviving C17 and C18 landscape features.

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

A Norman castle was established at Chilham in the C11 and completed in the late C12. It passed through the hands of several
owners until acquired in the early C17, through marriage, by Sir Dudley Digges who built the present, adjacent house and
employed John Tradescant the Elder (d 1637) to lay out the gardens (guidebook). After Digges death in 1638 the property
remained in the family until sold in 1724 to James Colebrook who enlarged the park to both the south-west and north-east.
Colebrook's son sold the estate in 1724 to Thomas Heron who engaged Lancelot Brown (1716-83) to improve the park. Just
before Heron's death in 1794 the estate was acquired by James Wildman; his son, James Beckford Wildman, succeeded in
1816, rebuilding some of the terraces removed in Brown'simprovements before selling the estate in 1861 to Charles Hardy. In
1867 he was succeeded by his son, Charles Stewart Hardy who built the stables and constructed the lake. He died in 1914 and
in 1918 Chilham Castle became the property of Sir Edmund Davis who employed Sir Herbert Baker to restore the house and
formal gardens. After Sir Edmund's death, the estate was owned for five years by Mr Somerset de Chair and, from 1949 until
itssalein 1997, by Viscount Massereene and Ferrard. The estate remains (1997) in private hands.

DESCRIPTION

LOCATION, AREA, BOUNDARIES, LANDFORM, SETTING Chilham Castle lies on the south side of the A20, 8km south-
west of Canterbury and immediately to the south-west of Chilham village. The registered site, comprising ¢ 10ha of formal and
ornamental gardens and a park of ¢ 130ha, lie on the western slopes of the valley of the Great Stour river which rise to the crest
of aridge of the North Downs along the south-west side of the park. The siteis bounded on the north-west side by treesfringing
the A20, with farmland on rising ground beyond. To the north and north-east, the site is enclosed from the village by alargely
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C18 brick estate wall (listed grade I1), with two houses built into it (Well Cottage 40m west of the lodges and Castle Cottage
45m south-east, both listed grade 11). On the east side, anarrow lane, Mountain Street skirts the boundary, marked asfar asthe
north edge of the hamlet of Mountain Street by afurther length of estate wall, pierced by aclairvoie. To the south-west, the park
merges into wooded farmland and to the south is separated from Godmersham Park (qv) only by anarrow strip of farmland.
ENTRANCES AND APPROACHES The main formal approach to the Castle is on the north-east front, from the square in the
centre of Chilham village. The entrance is through oak gates (restored 1997), flanked by a pair of identical lodges (listed grade
I1), which are set in the screen wall. The ensemble was designed ¢ 1922 by Sir Herbert Baker (1862-1946) and replaced the
gothic lodges and gates attributed to Lancel ot Brown (Stroud 1975) and demolished in 1862 (Notes by A Bolton accompanying
Wildman'swatercol our sketches). An axial gravelled path, flanked by lawns and lined by a double avenue of limes, replanted in
themid 1990sto replace the original avenue of 1817 (ibid) which was destroyed in the storm of 1987, leadsto abroad gravelled
forecourt enclosed by alow terrace wall embellished with urns brought from Nectonin Norfolk by Somerset de Chair. A vehicle
route runs from the gates to the forecourt around the north-west side of the lawns, linking up on the west side of the Castle with
a secondary, service drive (shown on Mudge's map of 1801) which enters the site from the A20 and passes the stable block.
PRINCIPAL BUILDINGS The house known as Chilham Castle (listed grade I) commands extensive views south-eastwards
over the distant landscape from its position on level ground on the edge of the valley of the Great Stour river. The house, of red
brick with ashlar dressings and atiled roof, was built between 1603 and 1616. It is hexagonal in plan, with a central courtyard
opening to the south-west. The north-east, entrance front is of two storeyswhile the corner turrets and the gabled entrance porch
are both of three storeys. The east front was altered by James Colebrook in the mid C18 and the house refitted by ThomasHeron
in the late C18. Considerable alterations were carried out by David Brandon for Charles Hardy in 1861-3 when the north-west
wing was also added. From 1922, Sir Herbert Baker restored the house and added the banqueting house to the C19 wing. To
the immediate west of the house is the octagonal keep and curtain walls of the C12 Chilham Castle (listed, with the donkey
wheel, grade I). Built of Caen stone and flint, these survive from its construction in 1171-4 and subsequent demolition after
1542. 1t is framed and largely obscured on the west and south sides by trees and shrubbery, and was restored to its present
appearance and occupancy as a dwelling in the early C20.

GARDENS AND PLEASURE GROUNDS The formal and ornamental gardens lie to the south and east of the Castle. The
courtyard on the south-west front, laid out with a small circular pond set in a surround of paving and box hedging (shown
apparently newly completed in photographs of 1924, CL ), opens onto a south-west-facing lawn which terminates, 120m distant,
inacurving, 250m long brick-walled ha-ha (listed grade 1), built as part of Lancelot Brown'simprovementsin ¢ 1777 (Stroud
1975). On the lawn 30m south of the courtyard is an C18 sundial by Thomas Wright (listed grade I1).

A series of four formal terraces (listed grade 11), 110m long and constructed of red brick, opens off the south-east front of the
Castle. The top terrace, built in 1922 to replace the former gravelled walk and grass slope, carries the lawn around from the
south-west front to the entrance front. At the second and third levels, a central grass walk is flanked by a herbaceous border
against the retaining wall while on the south-east side of the second level isaline of topiary yewsin avariety of shapes, planted
in 1922 (CL 1924). These two terraces would appear to be those reconstructed in the early or mid C19 by James Colebrook
(guidebook) on the site of those probably laid out by John Tradescant the Elder and removed during improvements by Brown
after 1777. Tradescant's terraces are described as being seven or eight of sloping ground, divided by walls and laid out with
box beds and paths (ibid) although an unattributed view of 1777 (ibid) appears to show them fewer and level in character. The
present terraces are linked at their south-west end by several flights of brick steps, part of Baker's 1922 restoration, built into the
slope of thelawn, the bottom flight giving accessto thefourth, lowest terrace. Thiscomprisesabroad lawn, laid out asabowling
greeninthe early or mid C19 and retained on the south-east side by aC17 wall (which survived Brown'simprovements) topped
by aline of large topiary yew spirals and unclipped pairs of Irish yews, planted 1870-90 (ibid).

South-east below theterracesis afurther walled enclosure, now laid to rough grass with afew mature fruit trees and abandoned
tennis courts, which is shown laid out, probably as an orchard, with rows and a central avenue of small trees on the OS 1st
edition (1877) and early C20 photographs (private collection).
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Abutting the terraces to the north-east is the small rectangular Quiet Garden, enclosed by tall yew hedges, with a rockwork
entrance arch at the south-west corner shaded by a grove of mature beech and lime trees underplanted with spring bulbs. North-
east of the Quiet Garden and enclosed by high brick walls is a range of glasshouses and outbuildings, shown established on
the OS 1st edition (1877). From a central gap in the wisteria-clad south-east wall an axia grass path slopes south-eastwards,
through a rose garden with ancient mulberry trees along its south-west side and beyond into an orchard with a small nuttery
overlooked by the late C18 Elephant House (now known as Annagh House, listed grade I1) built against the estate wall. A grass
path from the south-east end of the orchard leads, viaan area of ornamental woodland, shrubbery, and an early C20 overgrown
rockery, to the lake, now (1997) largely hidden from view by bankside planting. The lake, which was constructed in 1869 for
Charles Stewart Hardy on land brought into the park in ¢ 1733, containsislands, the largest of which is connected to the north-
west shore by a three-arched brick bridge (listed grade I1). To the west are lawns with mature trees, planted in the early C20
on aformer part of the adjacent paddock.

PARK The parkland extends for ¢ 1.3km to the south and south-west of the gardens, rising gently up the side of theriver valley
from north-east to south-west but with falling ground in the south-east corner. The park ismedieval in origin but itsearly history
isunclear. It was enlarged to near its present size in the early or mid C18 when James Colebrook diverted both the Canterbury
to Ashford road, to enclose land to the north-east (the site of the present lake), and, in 1733, the Dane Street to Godmersham
road which added a further 200 acres (¢ 81ha) in the south-west (guidebook). These extensions appear to be substantiated by
the boundaries shown on Andrews, Dury and Herbert's map of Kent of 1769. A further strip of land, part of which is now
(1997) occupied by Chilham Vineyard, was added along the present north-west boundary between 1769 and 1870 (OS 1877)
after the realignment westwards of the A20.

The open areas of the park are largely laid to pasture. South-westwards from the Castle, and extending almost to the park
boundary, there is along vista down a central band of open parkland, set with one or two major clumps and with individual
trees. Lancelot Brown is known to have been called in by Thomas Heron in 1777 (Stroud 1975) but, apart from the ha-ha, the
extent of hiswork in the park is unknown. The vistais framed by the numerous belts of trees on the north-west side of the park
and, on the south-east side, by a ¢ 1km long avenue which begins at the ha-ha. There are further tree belts aong the east and
south boundaries. The present general pattern of tree planting, which is of mixed age and which suffered considerable losses
in the storm of 1987, is shown established on the OS 1st edition map surveyed 1871-2, although the southern ¢ 600m of the
avenue, which is largely of oak and lime, appears to have been planted as an extension of the northern ¢ 400m section, which
is of sweet chestnut, between 1872 and 1898 (OS 1877, 1898). The chestnut avenue, which contains several trees of immense
girth (up to 9.5m) in the section closest to the ha-ha, appears to be shown on Andrews, Dury and Herbert's county map of 1769.
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This garden or other land is registered under the Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953 within the Register of
Historic Parks and Gardens by Historic England for its special historic interest.
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